
 Approval of Minutes
 121025BdAdjustmentMinutes
 011426BdAdjustmentMinutes

I. OLD BUSINESS

II. NEW BUSINESS 

 II.1 VARIANCE 26-00128: Variance seeking relief from Section 8.1, Dimensional Requirements
Table of the Unified Development Ordinance

 26-00128 - Variance Application Package
 24-00986 - Pool & Deck App Survey - No Slab - 12.10.2024
 24-00986 - Pool & Deck App Survey - No Slab - 3.31.25
 25-02501 - Accessory Structure Application & Survey

III. CHAIRMAN'S COMMENTS

IV. STAFF MEMBER REPORTS 

V. ADJOURN

PROPOSED AGENDA 
OAK ISLAND BOARD OF ADJUSTMENT 

WEDNESDAY, FEBRUARY 11, 2026 – 10:00 AM 
COUNCIL CHAMBERS - OAK ISLAND TOWN HALL

CALL TO ORDER 

APPROVAL OF MINUTES

 
 
 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

1

https://d2kbkoa27fdvtw.cloudfront.net/oakislandnc/052b5d700865887c66d7fc56123d482d0.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/3886212/121025BdAdjustmentMinutes_Draft.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/3886213/011426Minutes.pdf
https://d2kbkoa27fdvtw.cloudfront.net/oakislandnc/06171ed0b40edc2290d899bcefe24da60.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/3885168/26-00128_-_Variance_Application_Package.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/3885179/24-00986_-_Pool___Deck_Survey_-_No_Slab_-_12.10.2024.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/3885188/24-00986_-_Pool___Deck_Survey_-_No_Slab_-_3.31.25.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/3885162/26-00128_-_Survey_-_Slab.pdf


  

Item Cover Page

 

  
BOARD OF ADJUSTMENT AGENDA ITEM REPORT
  
DATE: February 11, 2026
  
SUBMITTED BY: Taylor Davis, Town Clerk Lisa P. Stites, MMC
  
ITEM TYPE: Approval of the Minutes
  
AGENDA SECTION: APPROVAL OF MINUTES
  
SUBJECT: Approval of Minutes
  
SUGGESTED ACTION:
  

ATTACHMENTS:
121025BdAdjustmentMinutes
011426BdAdjustmentMinutes

2

https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/3886212/121025BdAdjustmentMinutes_Draft.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/3886213/011426Minutes.pdf


 

 
MINUTES – December 10, 2025 

Board of Adjustment 

Page 1 of 3 

 

 

MINUTES 

BOARD OF ADJUSTMENT 

WEDNESDAY, DECEMBER 10, 2025 - 10:00 AM 

COUNCIL CHAMBERS - OAK ISLAND TOWN HALL 
 
Present: Chairman Charles Farley, Vice Chairman Steve Yuhasz, Board members Ed Hardy, John 

McLendon, and Nancy McMurray, Planning Manager Taylor Davis, Town Attorney Lydia Lavelle, and 

Town Clerk Lisa P. Stites, MMC. Alternate Board members Sue Stewart and Kerri McCullough were 

also present but did not participate in the meeting.  
 
Chairman Farley called the meeting to order at 10 a.m.  

 

Mr. Yuhasz made a motion to add Approval of the November 12, 2025 Minutes to the agenda. Mr. 

McLendon seconded the motion, and it passed unanimously. Mr. Yuhasz noted a correction on page 2 

(change “implementation” to “installation”) and moved approval, Mr. McLendon seconded, and the 

Minutes were approved as amended.  
 
I. OLD BUSINESS (none) 
 
II. NEW BUSINESS 
 

II.1 VARIANCE 25-02521: Variance request seeking relief from Article 8 Zoning District 

Development Standards, of the Unified Development Ordinance (25-02521 Variance Application 

Package.pdf 25-02191 Building Permit Application Package (Attachment 1).pdf 25-02521 

Photographs.docx)  
 

Chairman Farley explained the quasi-judicial process. The Town Clerk swore in all those who indicated they 

would provide testimony. Ms. Lavelle spoke about the conflict of interest issues and asked if any member had 

a conflict of interest; none indicated having any special knowledge or a conflict. 

 

Planning Manager Taylor Davis presented the item. The variance request was for a storage shed encroaching 

into the side setback at 105 SE 21st St., parcel 235JN008. Ms. Davis outlined that on Sept. 4, the applicants 

had submitted a building permit for a 6' x 8' storage area, which the site plan showed would be attached to the 

rear of the principal structure. This plan was reviewed and found compliant with the required setbacks. 

However, during the final zoning inspection, it was discovered that the storage area had been constructed on 

the side of the house rather than the rear of the house as indicated in the approved plan. Based on the 

submitted dimensions, the storage area was presumed to encroach approximately 2 feet into the required 8-

foot side setback. 

Mr. Yuhasz asked if there was any documentation that showed a location for the storage shed other than in the 

rear, and Ms. Davis said not to her knowledge. She also confirmed that the drawing in the agenda packet was 

submitted with the permit application.  

 

Mr. Yuhasz made a motion to move the agenda packet (and presentation) into the record; Mr. 

McLendon seconded, and the motion passed unanimously. 

 

Applicant Matthew Bradley addressed the Board. He said that he was a licensed attorney in North Carolina 

but was not a UDO expert. Mr. Bradley said that he and his wife bought the property in 2022. He said they 

thought it would be short-term, but the longer they've lived here, the more they love it. They have plans to 

close in the bottom of the house for more living space and build a shed for storage. He said that they applied 

for the permit and had a contractor build the shed. He said they then received a courtesy letter in October 

that the shed was not in compliance. He said that the zoning technician came to the property and that was the 

3

https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/3767170/25-02191_Building_Permit_Application_Package__Attachment_1_.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/3767170/25-02191_Building_Permit_Application_Package__Attachment_1_.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/3767170/25-02191_Building_Permit_Application_Package__Attachment_1_.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/3767170/25-02191_Building_Permit_Application_Package__Attachment_1_.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/3767171/25-02521_Photographs.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/3767171/25-02521_Photographs.pdf


 

 
MINUTES – December 10, 2025 

Board of Adjustment 

Page 2 of 3 

 

 

first time he (the applicant) saw the discrepancy between what was approved by the Town and what was 

built. 

 

Mr. Bradley distributed Exhibit A, a blown-up version of the map that was included with the permit 

application. He said the builder had made a mistake on the drawing and tried to fix it; he said if he (the 

applicant) had submitted it, he would have replaced the drawing. Mr. Bradley then reviewed the variance 

criteria and how the application met the criteria. He said that there would be an unnecessary hardship if they 

had to remove the shed, repair the fence, and rebuild the shed. He said that to comply with the Town's 

ordinances, what was a $7,000 shed would be likely $20,000. Mr. Bradley said that the conditions were 

peculiar to this property due to the topography. He said they did not have any input on where the house was 

built on the lot. He said where the shed was built did not get any light, and there were four existing trees in 

the back yard. Mr. Bradley distributed two pictures of the neighboring yards as Exhibits B (SE 20th) and C 

(106 SE 20th). He said that they did not create the hardship, because they followed the necessary steps to 

obtain a building permit. Mr. Bradley said that if they had known throughout the process that there was a 

problem, he would have been truthful about where they planned to build the shed. Regarding the fourth 

criteria, Mr. Bradley said that the requested variance was consistent with the spirit and intent of the regulation 

in that there was no evidence that the shed remaining there would cause any harm. 

 

Mr. Bradley cited two variances granted by Oak Island for setback encroachments. He also requested that this 

variance be granted. Mr. Bradley submitted letters from neighbors and an additional picture as Exhibits D 

(letter from Julie Solovay), E (letter from Evon Ward), and F (picture taken between the properties). 

 

Mr. Hardy asked who prepared the site plan; Mr. Bradley said it was done by the builder. Mr. Hardy asked 

who readjusted it after the fact. Mr. Bradley said that the intention was always to build it on the side of the 

house. Mr. Bradley said he had no knowledge that the permit was for the rear of the house. Ms. McMurray 

said that the permit was approved based on a drawing that was difficult to understand. Mr. Bradley again said 

the intent was to build the shed on the side of the house. Mr. Yuhasz said that Mr. Bradley had testified that 

the builder had attempted to correct the drawing, but even then, it still wasn't actually on the side and it still 

met the 8-foot setback requirement. Mr. Bradley said that he saw the builder show the zoning tech how he had 

fixed the drawing. Mr. Yuhasz said that the drawing, even as shown, does not show an encroachment, so there 

was nothing that shows the Town approved it with an encroachment. Mr. Bradley said the measurements 

show it.  

 

Mr. Yuhasz said that Mr. Bradley had mentioned trees in the backyard but that the Board did not have a 

picture of that. Mr. Bradley distributed Exhibit G (a picture of the trees in his backyard). He also distributed 

Exhibit H (a picture of the stairs from the second-floor deck into the backyard). 

 

Chairman Farley asked about the letter submitted with the letter writer not present; Ms. Lavelle said that was 

fine in this setting. 

 

Answering a question from Ms. McMurray, Ms. Davis said that the staff assumed that the shaded box was 

the planned location of the shed. 

 

Mr. Yuhasz asked if the deck was larger than was shown on the survey; Mr. Bradley said that it was, and 

that a Lowe's contractor had added on to the deck. He said that work was done with a permit. Mr. Bradley 

added that when he received the permit for the shed, he did not have the drawing or know the location that 

was permitted.  

 

Chairman Farley said the hearing was closed at 10:48 a.m. 

 

4



 

 
MINUTES – December 10, 2025 

Board of Adjustment 

Page 3 of 3 

 

 

Mr. Hardy said that the shed was permitted on the back of the house, even with the modified drawing. Mr. 

Hardy said that it wasn't up to the Board to decide who was at fault. Mr. Yuhasz said that it was unfortunate, 

but the shed was not built in compliance with the application. He said that the application was faulty, but 

that wasn't the staff's responsibility. He said there was nothing in the permit to indicate the shed was to be on 

the side of the house. He also said a shed could have been built with different dimensions on the side of the 

house and be in compliance with the ordinance. He said he did not see how a variance could be approved in 

this case when the shed was not built in compliance with the ordinance. Mr. McLendon addressed the 

applicant’s statements regarding two previous variances the Board had approved. He said that one variance 

was for one foot to the side, because the CAMA lines and Homeowners Association rules had made it 

impossible for that applicant to build a house at all. He said the other was for an elevator and dealt with 

ADA issues.  

 

Regarding the first criteria, Mr. Yuhasz said that there would be an unnecessary hardship if the variance 

were not granted. Regarding the second criteria, Mr. Yuhasz said his opinion was that the conditions were 

not particular to the property since it was a standard lot. 

 

Mr. Yuhasz moved that the Board finds affirmatively that the hardship does result from a strict 

application of the ordinance. Mr. McLendon seconded the motion, and it passed unanimously.  

 

Mr. Yuhasz moved that the hardship did not result from conditions peculiar to the property, and Mr. 

McLendon seconded. Ms. McMurray said that the trees in the backyard are something the Town has fought 

to maintain, and she wondered if the trees impeded locating a shed in the backyard. Mr. Yuhasz said that the 

picture with the trees does not show the entire yard, and there is a clear area with chairs, and the shed could 

go in that area. He also said the dimensions could be altered. The motion passed unanimously. 

 

Regarding the third criteria, Mr. Yuhasz said the hardship did result from actions taken by the 

applicant because the contractor was acting as the applicant's agent. Mr. McLendon moved to find 

that the hardship resulted from actions taken by the applicant, Ms. McMurray seconded the 

motion, and it passed unanimously. 

 

Regarding the fourth criteria, Mr. McLendon moved that it was not consistent (with the spirit, 

purpose and intent of the ordinance), Mr. Hardy seconded, and the motion passed unanimously. 

 

Mr. Yuhasz made a motion that the variance be denied based on the requirement that all four criteria 

be met, and not all four were met. Mr. McLendon seconded, and the motion passed unanimously. 

 

V. ADJOURN: There was no further business, and Chairman Farley announced the meeting was 

adjourned at 11:02 a.m.  

 

 

 

_________________________________ 

Charles Farley, Chairman 

 

 

Attested:______________________________ 

Lisa P. Stites, MMC 

Town Clerk 

5



 

 
MINUTES – January 14, 2026 

Board of Adjustment 

Page 1 of 8 

 

 

MINUTES 

BOARD OF ADJUSTMENT 

WEDNESDAY, JANUARY 14, 2026 - 10:00 AM 

COUNCIL CHAMBERS - OAK ISLAND TOWN HALL 

 

Present: Chairman Charles Farley, Vice-chairman Steve Yuhasz, Board member Nancy McMurray, and 

Alternate Board members Kerri McCullough and Sue Stewart, Town Attorney Lydia Lavelle, Planning 

Manager Taylor Davis, and Town Clerk Lisa P. Stites, MMC. 

 

Chairman Farley called the meeting to order at 10 am. 

 

APPROVAL OF MINUTES 

 

Mr. Yuhasz  said on page 2 of the Minutes, "p.m." should be changed to "a.m." Mr. Yuhasz also said there 

was some mention in the discussion about previous variances being approved due to ADA concerns and he 

asked that the Minutes reflect that. The Minutes will be amended and brought back to the Board. 

 

I. OLD BUSINESS (none) 

 

II. NEW BUSINESS 

 

II.1 VARIANCE 25-02907: Variance seeking relief from Section 8.1, Dimensional Requirements Table 

of the Unified Development Ordinance. (Application 132 NW 18th St - Determination Letter ) 

 

Chairman Farley explained the quasi-judicial process for the hearing. The Town Clerk administered the oath 

to all those who indicated they would testify. Ms. Lavelle reviewed the conflict of interest standards, and 

asked if any of the Board members had a conflict of interest. Mr. Yuhasz said that he had looked at the 

public information available on the Brunswick County website. Chairman Farley resumed his explanation of 

the hearing process. 

 

Planning Manager Taylor Davis addressed the Board, saying that the third item on the agenda, for an 

interpretation, would not be heard at this meeting.  

 

Ms. Davis presented the variance request from David Donatelli (applicant and owner) seeking approximately 

1.5 feet of encroachment into the required 8-foot side yard setback in the R-6 zoning district for a property at 

132 NW 18th Street. Ms. Davis explained that in 2014, an illegal subdivision was performed by a previous 

owner, separating a detached garage from the principal structure it belonged to. This created two non-

conformities: the garage became a standalone structure on its own parcel without a principal structure, and it 

encroached 1.5 feet into the newly established side yard. The subdivision was not submitted to the Planning 

Department for review, which would not have approved such a subdivision. The property had changed 

ownership twice since then. 

In 2024, the Town became aware of the situation when the current owner applied for a trade permit to connect 

electricity. The Development Services Director cited relevant North Carolina statutes that prohibited permits 

for illegally subdivided lots. A zoning determination letter issued on October 31, 2025, outlined three 

pathways to compliance: improve the structure to meet standards of a principal structure, construct a principal 

structure so the existing structure would revert to accessory status, or remove the structure. 

The current owner submitted a building permit to convert the garage into a residence, but the permit was on 

hold pending a decision on this variance request. Ms. Davis said that staff would support either of two plans 

for compliance -- either a variance for the current structure or building a new primary structure.  

6

https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/3820626/Application.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/3820626/Application.pdf


 

 
MINUTES – January 14, 2026 

Board of Adjustment 

Page 2 of 8 

 

 

Mr. Yuhasz questioned whether this should be considered a nonconforming lot rather than an illegal 

subdivision, noting county records showing the lot (Lot 31) had been conveyed separately as early as 

November 1999, which would predate Oak Island's formation and its UDO. Ms. Davis explained that 

according to county GIS records, the property line separating the parcels appeared in 2014. 

Mr. Yuhasz said that the first conveyance of the parcel as a seprate parcel was in 1999, which preceded 

the existence of the Town of Oak Island. Ms. Taylor said that staff investigation, together with 

information from Brunswick County showed the subdivision happened in 2014.  

 

Mr. Yuhasz said in 1999, Lot 31 was sold separately, and subsequent to that, that lot was sold multiple times. 

He siad that he found no formal recombination of the lots. Ms. Davis said that she and Brunswick County 

staff researched the matter and believe the subdivision was done in 2014. Mr. Yuhasz said that he didn’t see 

any record that the lots had been combined, and he questioned whether it was appropriate to consider a 

variance or whether there should be an interpretation that this be considered a nonconforming structure. 

Answering a question from Ms. Lavelle, Ms. Davis said she could not find a recorded instrument of 

separation. She said that according to the Brunswick County GIS data, the property was split into two in 

2014. Mr. Yuhasz spoke about his research he found many records of the lot being sold but none of the lots 

being combined. Mr. Yuhasz said that it if it were a legal nonconforming lot, then a variance wasn’t 

necessary. Ms. Davis said that the Town’s position was that the structure should be converted to a house or a 

house should be built. She acknowledged that the applicant was given different information from two 

employees, and that one former employee said that the structure was grandfathered.  

 

Ms. McCullough made a motion to agenda packet materials and the staff presentation as Exhibit 1. Ms. 

McMurray seconded the motion, and it passed unanimously.  

 

David Donatelli, applicant, addressed the Board. He said a permit was issued in 2007 for the garage to be 

built on the three lots. He said in 2023, he spoke with Town staff during his due diligence period for buying 

the property, and that his issue was looking at the placement of the fence and the setback. He said that he was 

told that he could use the building, with no improvements, for storage, and that a new principal structure 

would have to meet the setbacks. Mr. Donatelli referenced pictures of the property included in his exhibit. He 

said that he had filed for an inspection for electrical and was told that he could not do that because it was 

considered an improvement. He said he listed the property for sale, and then he got a letter from the Town 

that he had to take the building down even though he had been told it was "grandfathered." Mr. Donatelli said 

that there was a potential buyer for the property and that the buyer intended to bring the property into 

compliance. Mr. Donatelli said that his preference would be that he can sell the property and the new property 

owner could bring the property into complaince and everyone would be happy. 

 

Mr. Donatelli also reviewed the variance criteria. Regarding the first one, he said he looked into what it 

would take to move the structure, but that seven mature oak trees would have to be cut down. Ms. 

McCullough asked if the sale was contingent on a building permit being granted. He said that the property 

was listed with the information that the Town wanted the property to be brought into compliance. 

 

Tracy Donatelli, co-applicant and listing agent for the property, was sworn in to testify. She said that the 

contract has an addendum to address this issue. Answering a question from Ms. McCullough, Ms. Davis 

said the building permit could be transferred to a new property owner, and Mr. Donatelli said the varniance 

would attach to the lot. 

 

Mr. Yuhasz asked if there was a meter base; Mr. Donatelli said there was a base, but not a meter. 

 

Chairman Farley said the Hearing was closed at 10:44 a.m. Another person wished to testify, and the Hearing  

was reopened at 10:46 a.m.  

7



 

 
MINUTES – January 14, 2026 

Board of Adjustment 

Page 3 of 8 

 

 

 

Jeffrey Michael Bier, 131 NW 18th Street, was sworn in to testify. He said that he lived across the street and 

didn't have any problem with the building. He said he had met the potential property owners and liked the 

plans they had. 

 

Keith Eades, agent with Palm Realty, was sworn in to testify. He said he represented the buyers and that the 

buyers intended to make the structure into a residential structure. 

 

Mr. Yuhasz made a motion to introduce Mr. Donatelli's information as Exhibit B; Ms. McMurray 

seconded and the motion passed unanimously. 

 

Chairman Farley closed the Hearing at 10:49 a.m. 

 

Mr. Yuhasz said that he thought enough evidence had been presented that the Board should at least consider 

whether a variance could be granted in this situation. He said a hardship would result from a strict application 

of the ordinances because the property could not be used. Mr. Yuhasz made a motion that we find 

affirmatively that the result would be a hardship, Ms. McMurray seconded the motion, and it passed 

unanimously. 

 

Regarding the second criteria, Mr. Yuhasz moved that they find that the hardship does result from 

conditions that are peculiar to the property, Ms. McCullough seconded the motion, and it passed 

unanimously. 

 

Mr. Yuhasz moved that the hardship does not result from actions taken by the applicant. Ms. 

McCullough seconded the motion, and it passed unanimously. 

 

Mr. Yuhasz moved that the Board find that the variance is consistent with the spirit, purpose and 

intent of the ordinance in that if the variance is granted, the property can be improved in a way that 

would be beneficial to the Town. Ms. McMuarry seconded, and the motion passed unanimously. 

 

Mr. Yuhasz made a motion to adopt the findings of fact, Ms. McCullough seconded, and the motion 

passed unanimously.  

 

Mr. Yuhasz made a motion to grant the variance based on the findings of fact as determined in this 

Hearing. Ms. McMurray seconded, and the motion passed unanimously.  

 

II.2 VARIANCE 25-02908: Variance request seeking relief from Section 10.23.4 and 10.25.14 of 

the Unified Development Ordinance (25-02908 Application Aerial of block) 

 

Ms. Stites swore in all those who indicated they would testify. Ms. Lavelle reviewed the conflict of interest 

standards. None of the members indicated having a conflict of interest. 

 

Ms. Davis presented a variance request from Adam and Leigh Greene seeking relief from UDO sections 

10.23.4 (setback requirements) and 10.25.14 (prohibited signs). The applicants want to install a sign within 

the 10-foot front and side setback from property lines and potentially attach or hang the sign from a mature 

tree on their commercial property located at the corner of East Oak Island Drive and NE 61st Street (parcel 

236PD006). 

 

The subject property is a corner lot approximately 0.14 acres containing a large live oak tree located at 

the eastern front corner, approximately 10 feet from both the front and side property lines. The 

property has an existing gravel driveway and a planned small building for a business. The variance 

8

https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/3823173/25-02908_Application.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/3823173/25-02908_Application.pdf


 

 
MINUTES – January 14, 2026 

Board of Adjustment 

Page 4 of 8 

 

 

was requested because the combination of the tree location, existing driveway, and the adjacent non-

conforming building that extends to or beyond the front property line creates visibility issues for any 

sign placed according to current regulations. 

 

Answering a question from Ms. McCullough, Ms. Taylor said a sign could be installed in another location, 

or on the building. She acknowledged that it would be challenging to put a free-standing sign along Oak 

Island Drive because of the large tree near the corner. Mr. Yuhasz asked about the right-of-way there, and 

Ms. Davis said that the right-of-way does vary in that area.  

 

Ms. McCullough asked what options there were other than issuing a variance. Ms. Davis said since it is a 

corner lot, a sign could be installed on the other road frontage. She said they could also use a wall sign or 

some kind of projecting sign, like a canopy sign.  

 

Mr. Yuhasz made a motion to accept the agenda materials and the staff presentation as Exhibit A. Ms. 

Stewart seconded the motion and it passed unanimously.  

 

Leigh Greene, applicant, addressed the Board. She said she was not sure why the size of the right-of-way 

changed to the west. She also said that removing the tree would cause public backlash, as it is a beloved 

landmark. She explained that due to the adjacent building encroaching into the right-of-way and the tree's 

location, a sign placed 10 feet back from the property line would not be visible to eastbound traffic on Oak 

Island Drive. She said that the only other option available was to put a sign that was only viewable in one 

direction. She reviewed a document about the reasons for approving the variance. Ms. Greene said that an 

unnecessary hardship would be caused by having to remove the large live oak tree in order to install a 

commercial business sign on the property. She said citizens would think negatively of the business and of the 

Town of Oak Island, which would cause an unnecessary hardship if the Town requires them to remove the 

large live oak tree in order to place the sign in a visible location. She said the building next door and its 

awning sign would obstruct the visibility of any sign they could install that met the Town’s requirements. Ms. 

Greene said that they had not created the hardship for themselves. She said that they were not aware that the 

neighboring business was encroaching into the right-of-way. She also said that the variance would be 

consistent with the spirit, purpose and intent of the ordinances and that it would not jeopardize citizens’ 

safety.  

 

Ms. Stewart asked Ms. Greene if she knew the tree was there before they purchased the property. Ms. Greene 

said that she did, but she did not know that the Town had allowed the building next to her property to 

encroach into the right-of-way.  

 

Mr. Yuhasz asked if this would be a 2-sided sign, and Ms. Greene said it would. Ms. Davis clarified that the 

applicant was speaking about putting the sign within the 10-foot setback on her property, not in the right-of-

way; Ms. Greene confirmed that she was not asking to put anything in the right-of-way. 

 

Ms. McCullough asked what product would be sold, and if it would be visible to the public. Ms. Greene said 

it would not be visible all the time. Ms. McCullough asked Ms. Greene if she had looked into using a 

sandwich board sign; Ms. Greene said they needed a permanent sign. 

 

Chairman Farley said that possibly asking NCDOT to trim the tree to increase visibility. Ms. Greene said 

that she was just trying to save the tree. Ms. Davis said that the tree there now would meet the Town's tree 

requirements. If the tree were removed, several trees would have to be planted to meet the requirements. 

 

Mr. Yuhasz moved to introduce the applicant's documentation as Exhibit B. The motion was 

seconded by Ms. Stewart and passed unanimously. 

 

9



 

 
MINUTES – January 14, 2026 

Board of Adjustment 

Page 5 of 8 

 

 

Jacqueline Marriott, 101 SE 78th Street, asked that the Board allow the variance to preserve the tree. 

 

Ricky Edwards, 204 NE 64th Street, addressed the Board. He said he lives about 200 yards from that tree and 

goes by it many times a day. He spoke favorably of the applicants and said he would trust their intentions to 

preserve the tree. Mr. Yuhasz asked Mr. Edwards how he felt about the proposed sign, and Mr. Edwards said 

he trusted they would do something "first-class." 

 

Bianca Bazl, NE 61st Street, addressed the Board. She said that she was concerned about the Town's tree 

canopy. Ms. Bazl said that the tree location and the location of the building next door were known when the 

property was purchased. She also said there was room to put a sign on the 61st Street side and that it would 

not harm the tree. She also said she was concerned attaching something to the tree would affect the health of 

the tree. 

 

Ms. Stewart asked if the applicant would be allowed to cut down the tree. Ms. Davis said the tree was on Ms. 

Greene’s property, so she could. Trees would need to be planted or the applicant would have to buy-down to 

meet the requirements. 

 

Ms. Marriotte asked for an explanation of the tree requirement buy-down program, and Ms. Davis said 

that this property has two road frontages and plantings would be required for both. She said the buy-down 

was $80 per 25 feet of road frontage. Ms. Greene said that the UDO was not clear about road frontage and 

that she had been given different information from employees. Ms. Davis said that the UDO was clear and 

that she had verified her interpretation with the Assistant Town Manager. She said that there are two road 

frontages. 

 

Mr. Yuhasz asked if the Board could put resonable restrictions on the size of the sign and location. Ms. 

Lavelle said that was allowed as long as the conditions were related to the variance. 

 

Chairman Farley said the Hearing was closed at 11:38 a.m. There was an additional request to speak, and 

the Hearing was reopened.  

 

Barbara Textoris, Minnesota Drive, was sworn in and addressed the Board. She said that we want to 

encourage businesses, but there would be a lot of upset people if that tree were removed. 

 

Chairman Farley closed the hearing at 11:41 p.m. 

 

The Town’s Stormwater Administrator, Brice Taylor, was sworn in. Ms. McCullough asked Mr. Taylor what 

his opinion was about attaching a sign to the tree. He said that a permanent sign would be fine, that live oak 

trees were pretty resilient but that attaching anything to a tree would not be a good idea. He would 

recommend allowing a monument sign close to the tree but not attaching anything to it. 

 

Mr. Yuhasz asked how high a sign could be under that tree before needing to trim it so much that it would be 

harmed. Mr. Taylor said that the understory was 12 to 14 feet. He would recommend the monument sign be 

five feet away from the trunk. Mr. Taylor spoke about his background, saying he had been the Town's tree 

canopy manager for two years and had attended numerous training classes. 

 

Ms. Lavelle noted that the hearing had been re-opened with additional testimony being provided. 

 

Mr. Yuhasz made a motion to close the Hearing at 11:47 a.m., Ms. McMurray seconded, and the 

motion passed unanimously. 

 

10



 

 
MINUTES – January 14, 2026 

Board of Adjustment 

Page 6 of 8 

 

 

Answering a question from Ms. McMurray, Ms. Davis said the maximum height was 15 feet for a sign, 

though she'd have to refer to the ordinance for width requirements. 

 

Ms. McCullough asked if there were other tall signs or pole signs in that area, and Ms. Davis said she was not 

aware of any. Ms. McCullough said that it seemed there was some consistency for groupings of businesses. 

Ms. Davis said that was not something the Town required. 

 

The Board reviewed the variance criteria. 

 

Regarding the first criteria, Mr. Yuhasz moved that the hardship would be that the sign would not be 

visible in both directions of traffic. Ms. McMurray seconded, and the motion passed 4-1 with Chairman 

Farley and Board members McCullough, McMurray, and Yuhasz in favor, and Ms. Stewart opposed. 

 

For the second criteria, Mr. Yuhasz moved that what was peculiar to this property was that there was 

an important live oak tree in a location that prevents the installation of a sign that meets the 

requirements of the ordinance and that is certainly peculiar to the property. Ms. McCullough 

seconded, and the motion passed unanimously.  

 

Mr. Yuhasz made a motion that the hardship did not result from actions taken by the applicant. Ms. 

McCullough seconded the motion. Ms. Stewart did not agree and said that the applicant knew the tree 

was there and that there might be an issue. She said the applicant could also replant or buy-down the 

requirement. Ms. McCullough said that she didn’t think that the applicant’s knowledge of the situation was 

something they could consider. The motion passed 4-1 with Chairman Farley and Board members 

McCullough, McMurray, and Yuhasz in favor, and Ms. Stewart opposed. 

 

Regarding the fourth criteria, Mr. Yuhasz said that if the right-of-way were consistent with the right-of-way 

elsewhere, the variance would not be needed. Mr. Yuhasz moved that the variance would be consistent 

with the spirit, purpose, and intent of the ordinance. Ms. McMurray seconded the ordinance. The 

motion passed 4-1 with Chairman Farley and Board members McCullough, McMurray, and Yuhasz 

in favor, and Ms. Stewart opposed. 

 

Mr. Yuhasz proposed conditions that the sign be no higher than 10 feet, that it be placed no closer to the 

right-of-way than would be reasonable for it to be seen from Oak Island Drive and that the placement of 

pillars or posts be sited in coordination with Town staff, and that no sign be allowed to be hung from the 

tree itself. It was clarified that coordination with Town staff included review by an arborist. Ms. McMurray 

also noted that sign visibility would be affected when cars are parked at the business next door. 

 

Mr. Yuhasz suggested a condition that placement be such that someone in a vehicle in the eastbound lane on 

Oak Island Drive at 60th Street could see the sign. Ms. Davis clarified that the sign would protrude into the 

setback, not the right-of-way.  

 

Mr. Yuhasz moved for approval of the variance with the conditions as previously stated (that the sign would 

be no higher than 10 feet; that the placement of pillars or posts would be sited in coordination with Town staff 

including an arborist; that no sign would be allowed to be hung from the tree itself; and that the sign would be 

visible by someone seated a vehicle in the eastbound lane at the intersection of 60th Street and East Oak Island 

Drive). Ms. McMurray seconded the motion. The motion passed 4-1 with Chairman Farley and Board 

members McCullough, McMurray, and Yuhasz in favor, and Ms. Stewart opposed. 

 

Mr. Yuhasz made a motion to recess until 1:30 p.m. Ms. Stewart seconded, and the motion passed 

unanimously. 

 

11



 

 
MINUTES – January 14, 2026 

Board of Adjustment 

Page 7 of 8 

 

 

III. INTERPRETATION 25-02799: Interpretation request seeking clarification of the requirement for fences 

surrounding above-ground pools (25-02799 Interpretation Application): This item was removed from the 

agenda.  

 

Mr. Yuhasz made a motion to recess until 1:30 p.m. Ms. Stewart seconded, and the motion passed 

unanimously.  

 

The Board resumed the meeting at 1:30 p.m. 

 

II.5 VARIANCE 25-02976: Variance seeking relief from Section 7.2 Accessory Buildings/Structures, 

of the Unified Development Ordinance (25-02976 - Variance Application 25-02414 - Pool Permit 

Approved Site Plan.pdf ) 

 

Ms. Stites swore in all those who indicated they would testify. Ms. Lavelle reviewed the conflict of interest 

standards. None of the members indicated having a conflict. Chairman Farley explained the quasi-judicial 

process. 

 

Ms. Davis presented the item, saying it was a variance request for a property at 624 E. Beach Drive (parcel 

235PC018). The request is for a variance from the accessory structure ordinances (Section 7.2). The property 

owner seeks a 13-foot encroachment into the 25-foot rear setback. Ms. Davis explained that the property is a 

through lot. Ms. Davis explained the ordinance regarding through lots and the two front setbacks. She said the 

pool construction approximately 12 feet from the property line was a result of staff error. The reviewer 

incorrectly applied section 7.1.11 regarding swimming pool setbacks without considering the regulations for 

through lots. The site plan was approved in error, allowing the pool to be constructed in non-compliance with 

the ordinance. After a stop work order was briefly imposed, the applicants were allowed to continue 

construction at their own risk while seeking this variance. Ms. Davis noted that staff is supportive of proposed 

amendments to the ordinance that would allow ground-level accessory structures such as in-ground pools to 

be constructed within 8 feet of the rear property line on through lots. 

Mr. Yuhasz asked if a fence were constructed where the construction fence was, would that be allowed, and 

Ms. Davis said it would.  

 

Mr. Yuhasz moved introduction of the agenda materials and the presentation as Exhibit A. The 

motion was seconded by Ms. Stewart and passed unanimously. 

 

Mark Bolens, applicant, addressed the Board. He said that while he would support a text amendment, he is 

still seeking a variance because the hardship created is unique to their property. He said that they built the 

pool based on a permit issued from the Town, and didn’t hire the contractor until the permit was issued. He 

said two inspections had passed, and then there was a stop work order. He said he appreciated staff taking 

ownership of the error. He said they had two choices, either a text amendment or this variance request. He 

said the text amendment was a long process and was not a failsafe. Mr. Bolens said there would also be a 

large financial hardship if the variance did not pass. 

 

Ms. McCullough asked if the hardship was that if the variance were not approved, then they would have a 

pool for which they would never get a certificate of occupancy. Mr. Bolens said that the hardship was that 

they couldn't return the materials they had purchased. 

 

Ross Smith, with Raleigh Pool Pros, also addressed the Board. He said that that they had submitted the permit 

five times for review and that staff did not catch this mistake. He said that there were numerous times they 

had reached out to Town staff and that those efforts were futile. 

 

12

https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/3823597/25-02799_Interpretation_Application.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/3824091/25-02414_-_Pool_Permit_Approved_Site_Plan.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/3824091/25-02414_-_Pool_Permit_Approved_Site_Plan.pdf


 

 
MINUTES – January 14, 2026 

Board of Adjustment 

Page 8 of 8 

 

 

Ms. Davis clarified that it was a former employee who had reviewed the plan and made a mistake in that 

review. Mr. Bolens asked Ms. Davis to confirm that she lifted the stop work order and that she said that the 

pool might have to be moved at his expense. She said that was correct. She said that staff lifted the stop 

work order to allow time for the applicant to finish construction if he so chose. Ms. Davis said that the 

circumstances were unique in that the applicant was mistakenly given approval. 

 

Chairman Farley closed the hearing at 1:58 p.m. 

 

Mr. Yuhasz made a motion that the hardship does result from a strict interpretation of the ordinance. 

Ms. McMurray seconded, and the motion passed unanimously. 

 

Mr. Yuhasz made a motion that the hardship does result in conditions that are peculiar to the property 

in that all of the required applications were made but that there was an error by Town staff that 

allowed the project to move forward even though it didn’t meet the strict requirements of the 

ordinance. Ms. Stewart seconded the motion. Ms. McCullough said that this was something that is 

peculiar to a through lot. The motion passed unanimously.  

 

Ms. McCullough made a motion to find that the hardship did not result from actions taken by the 

applicant or the property owner. Ms. Stewart seconded the motion, and it passed unanimously.  

 

Mr. Yuhasz made a motion that the Board finds that the variance is consistent with the spirit, purpose, 

and intent of the ordinance. Ms. Stewart seconded the motion. Mr. Yuhasz noted that the required 

fencing will be in conformity with the existing fencing on the adjacent property. The motion passed 

unanimously.  

 

Mr. Yuhasz made a motion to grant the variance as requested. Ms. McMurray and Ms. Stewart 

seconded the motion, and it passed unanimously.  

 

III. CHAIRMAN'S COMMENTS: Chairman Farley asked for training for the new Board member, and 

staff said they would schedule something soon.   

 

IV.        STAFF MEMBER REPORTS (none) 

 

V. ADJOURN 

 

Mr. Yuhasz moved to adjourn at 2:04 pm. Ms. McMurray seconded and the meeting was adjourned.  

 

 

________________________________ 

Charles Farley, Chairman 

Attested:______________________________ 

Lisa P. Stites, MMC 

Town Clerk 

13



  
AGENDA ITEM NO. II.1

 BOARD OF ADJUSTMENT
AGENDA ITEM MEMO

 

 

SUBJECT: VARIANCE 26-00128: Variance seeking relief from
Section 8.1, Dimensional Requirements Table of the
Unified Development Ordinance

DATE: January 30, 2026
DEPARTMENT: Planning

Subject Summary: REQUEST SUMMARY
Mark Bachara, applicant, on behalf of Edwin and Mary Schlichter, owners, are requesting a variance for relief
from the Town of Oak Island Unified Development Ordinance (UDO) standards outlined in Section 8.1, Zoning
District Developmental Standards. Specifically, the applicant seeks an encroachment into the required eight-foot
side yard setback of the R-7 zoning district for accessory structures. 
 
LOCATION
The subject property is located at 111 SE 64th St., immediately across from the intersection of SE 64th St. and
Tortoise Shell Ct. The parcel may be further identified by Brunswick County PID: 250AG00311.
 
PROPERTY DESCRIPTION
The subject property is an oceanfront flag lot, is approximately 1.48 acres and contains one residential structure
with associated decking and swimming pool.
 
BACKGROUND
In December 2024, the property owner submitted an application for the addition of deck and a swimming pool on
the property.
 
A proposed concrete slab for a pickleball court was not demonstrated on the submitted surveys and was not
included in the zoning, building, or stormwater reviews for the project.
 
A permit was issued for the approved decking and swimming pool. 
 
During an inspection of the property for the items related to the building permit, a newly constructed large
concrete slab was observed in the rear yard and appeared to be within the property's required side yard setback.
Per measurements taken at the time by a building inspector the slab measured approximately two feet and five
inches from the ground and was approximately three feet and eleven inches from the fence bordering the side
property line. 
 
The concrete slab was not constructed at ground-level and is therefore considered an accessory structure. 
 
Accessory structures in the R-7 zoning district must be at least eight feet (8') from all property lines. 
 

14



The property owner was instructed to apply for an accessory structure permit and submit an updated survey that
reflected the construction of the concrete slab. The updated survey confirmed the concrete slab was built within
the side yard setback. Per the survey the slab is approximately thirty feet (30') wide and fifty-seven feet (57')
long. 
 
The accessory permit application did not receive zoning or stormwater approval and was therefore not issued. 
 
ZONING ADMINISTRATOR'S CONCLUSION
Section 1.3.3. of the UDO states "...no building or structure shall be erected, moved, altered, or extended, and no
land, building, or structure or part thereof shall be occupied or used unless in conformity with the regulations
specified for the district in which it is located." Further, Section 5.3.7.1. states "No building or other structure
shall be erected, moved, added to, demolished, or structurally altered without a building permit issued by the
Building Inspector and a zoning permit issued by the UDO Administrator." It is the Administrator's conclusion
the structure was constructed without approval from either the UDO Administrator or a Building Inspector and is
not in conformance with the regulations of the district. 
 
TOWN OF OAK ISLAND UDO VARIANCE EVALUATION
4.10.2. Variances.
 
4.10.2.1. An application for a variance shall be submitted to the Board of Adjustment by filing a copy of the
application with the UDO Administrator 30 days prior to the meeting at which it will be considered. Applications
shall be handled in the same manner as applications for permits.
 
4.10.2.2. When unnecessary hardships would result from carrying out the strict letter of the UDO, the Board of
Adjustment shall vary any of the provisions of the Ordinance upon a showing of all of the following:

4.10.2.2.1. Unnecessary hardship would result from the strict application of the Ordinance. It shall not be
necessary to demonstrate that, in the absence of the variance, no reasonable use can be made of the property.
 
4.10.2.2.2. The hardship results from conditions that are peculiar to the property, such as location, size, or
topography. Hardships resulting from personal circumstances, as well as hardships resulting from conditions that
are common to the neighborhood or the general public, may not be the basis for granting a variance. A variance
may be granted when necessary and appropriate to make a reasonable accommodation under the Federal Fair
Housing Act for a person with a disability.
 
4.10.2.2.3. The hardship did not result from actions taken by the applicant or the property owner. The act of
purchasing property with knowledge that circumstances exist that may justify the granting of a variance shall not
be regarded as a self-created hardship.
 
4.10.2.2.4. The requested variance is consistent with the spirit, purpose, and intent of the Ordinance, such that
public safety is secured and substantial justice is achieved.
 
4.10.2.3. No change in permitted uses may be authorized by variance. Appropriate conditions may be imposed on
any variance, provided that the conditions are reasonably related to the variance. Any other ordinance that
regulates land use or development may provide for variances consistent with the provisions of this subsection.
 
4.10.2.4. The nature of the variance and any conditions attached to it shall be entered on the face of the zoning
permit, or the zoning permit may simply note the issuance of the variance and refer to the written record of the

15



variance for further information. All such conditions are enforceable in the same manner as any other applicable
requirement of this Ordinance.
 
4.10.3. Burden of Proof in Appeals and Variances.
 
4.10.3.1. When an appeal is taken to the Board of Adjustment in accordance with Section 4.10.1, the UDO
Administrator shall have the initial burden of presenting to the Board of Adjustment sufficient evidence and
argument to justify the order or decision appealed from. The burden of presenting evidence and argument to the
contrary then shifts to the appellant, who shall also have the burden of persuasion.
 
4.10.3.2. The burden of presenting evidence sufficient to allow the Board of Adjustment to reach the conclusions
set forth in Section 4.10.2.2, as well as the burden of persuasion on those issues, remains with the applicant
seeking the variance.
 
4.10.4. Board of Adjustment Action/Voting.
 
The concurring vote of four-fifths of the Board of Adjustment shall be necessary to grant a variance. A majority of
the members shall be required to decide any other quasi-judicial matter or to determine an appeal. For the
purposes of this subsection, vacant positions on the Board and members who are disqualified from voting on a
quasi-judicial matter shall not be considered members of the board for calculation of the requisite majority.
 
BOARD OF ADJUSTMENT: FINDING OF FACTS
1. It is the Board's CONCLUSION that the hardship of which the applicant complains results/does not result from
the strict application of the ordinance. It shall not be necessary to demonstrate that, in the absence of the variance,
no reasonable use can be made of the property.
       a. This conclusion is based on the following FINDINGS OF FACT:

2. It is the Board's CONCLUSION that, the hardship results/does not result from conditions that are peculiar to
the property, such as location, size, or topography. Hardships resulting from personal circumstances, as well as
hardships resulting from conditions that are common to the neighborhood or the general public, may not be the
basis for granting a variance.
       a. This conclusion is based on the following FINDINGS OF FACT:
 
3. It is the Board's CONCLUSION that the hardship results/does not result from actions taken by the applicant or
the property owner. The act of purchasing property with knowledge that circumstances exist that may justify
granting of a variance shall not be regarded as a self-created hardship.
        a. This conclusion is based on the following FINDINGS OF FACT:
 
4. It is the Board's CONCLUSION that, the requested variance is consistent/not consistent with the spirit,
purpose, and intent of the ordinance, such that public safety is secured, and substantial justice is achieved.  
        a. This conclusion is based on all of the FINDINGS OF FACT:
 
Attachments:
26-00128 - Variance Application Package
24-00986 - Pool & Deck App Survey - No Slab - 12.10.2024
24-00986 - Pool & Deck App Survey - No Slab - 3.31.25
25-02501 - Accessory Structure Application & Survey

16

https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/3885168/26-00128_-_Variance_Application_Package.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/3885179/24-00986_-_Pool___Deck_Survey_-_No_Slab_-_12.10.2024.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/3885188/24-00986_-_Pool___Deck_Survey_-_No_Slab_-_3.31.25.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/3885162/26-00128_-_Survey_-_Slab.pdf


 
Financial Impact Statement: N/A
 
Legal Review: N/A
 

17



18



19



20



21



22



23



24



25



26



27



28



29



30



31



32



33



34



35



36



37



38



39



40



41



42



43



44



45



46



47



48



49



50



51



52


	Board of Adjustment  Agenda
	Cover Page
	121025BdAdjustmentMinutes
	011426BdAdjustmentMinutes
	Item II.1 - Cover Page
	Item II.1 - 26-00128 - Variance Application Package
	Item II.1 - 24-00986 - Pool & Deck App Survey - No Slab - 12.10.2024
	Item II.1 - 24-00986 - Pool & Deck App Survey - No Slab - 3.31.25
	Item II.1 - 25-02501 - Accessory Structure Application & Survey

